

SCHOOL HANDBOOK

The Tree House preschool is a nurturing and creative preschool that encourages the social development and individual potential of children ages 2 to 5 years old through play-based, active learning. This handbook provides insight into our philosophy as well as helpful procedural and program information for parents.

Revised: August 14, 2018

Dear Parents and Guardians,

Welcome to The Tree House. We look forward to an exciting year together as we observe your child's growth and development through the ever-changing experiences he/she will have.

This handbook explains many of our policies and procedures. Its purpose is to provide you with the day-to-day practical information you will need throughout the upcoming year. Please read this handbook carefully now and share it with your caregiver (if appropriate). Please feel free to contact us if you have any questions or concerns. We work very hard to keep the lines of communication open to work with you on behalf of your children. We thank you in advance for your cooperation and hope you will refer to this handbook throughout the year. Your continued support and active involvement is what makes our program at The Tree House unique.

Sincerely,

Jen Nowack, Director
The Board of Directors

Table of Contents

Introduction	6
History of The Tree House	6
Philosophy	6
Office Information	7
Registration/Applications	7
Tuition Policy	8
Tuition Schedule	9
Family Information	9
Role of Parents	9
Tree House Parent Organization	10
Family Communication Policy	10
Home Language Policy	11
Absence Policy	11
Arrivals and Departures (signing in and out)	12
Snow Policy	12
Emergency Notification System	12
Emergency Plan	13
Birthday Celebrations	13
Clothing	13
Field Trips	13
Policy on the Use of Social Media	14
Social Media	14
Shutterfly Share Sites	15
Policy on the Use of Technology in the Classroom	15
Health and Nutrition Information	16
Nutrition and Physical Activity Policy	16
Food Service Policy	17
Breastfeeding Policy	17
Sun Protection	18
Personal Hygiene Requirements	18
Preventative Health Care Policy	18
Oral Health Policy	19
Communicable Disease Prevention Policy	19
Excludable Communicable Diseases	20
Communicable Disease Reporting Guidelines	20

Lice Policy	20
Medication Administration Policy	21
Sudden Infant Death Syndrome and Shaken Baby Syndrome	22
Special Services Information	22
Screening and Referral Policy	22
Project Child Find	23
Behavioral/Mental Health/Community Resources	23
Program Overview	24
Curriculum	24
Creativity Statement	24
2-2 ½ Year Old Programs	25
Social and Emotional Development	25
Cognitive and Language Development	25
Music	26
Fine Motor Development	26
Gross Motor Development	26
3 Year Old Program	26
Social and Emotional Development	26
Cognitive and Language Development	26
Music	27
Fine Motor Development	27
Gross Motor Development	27
4 Year Old Program	27
Social and Emotional Development	27
Cognitive and Language Development	28
Reading Readiness	28
Writing Readiness	28
Music	28
Fine Motor Development	28
Gross Motor Development	28
4 Plus Class	29
Literacy Development	29
Math Development	29
Social Development	29
Music	30
Fine Motor Development	30
Gross Motor Development	30

Assessments	30
Discipline Policy	30
Guidelines for Positive Discipline	31
Additional Policy Information	33
Release of Children Policy	33
Expulsion Policy	34
Department of Children and Families: Office of Licensing	36
INFORMATION TO PARENTS	36
Communicable Diseases Information	39
USDA Meal Guidelines	40
USDA Meal Guidelines (cont.)	41
Sudden Infant Death Syndrome	42
Shaken Baby Syndrome	44

Introduction

The Tree House is a nonprofit organization sponsored by the Presbyterian Church in Basking Ridge. It is under the direction of a Board of Directors which includes members of the Church, the Church staff, center parents, and the director of The Tree House.

The Tree House experience is designed to compliment family life. We encourage frequent and open communication with parents. Our goal is to provide a quality learning experience which will enhance the intellectual, social, spiritual, emotional and physical development of each child.

The Tree House offers full-day and half-day programs for children ages 2 to 5. Children may participate in the full-day program from 7:30 AM to 6:00 PM everyday, or they may attend a half-day program from 8:45 AM to 12:45 PM on a full or part-time basis.

History of The Tree House

The concept of the establishment of a preschool was proposed to the Session of the Presbyterian Church in Basking Ridge in the spring of 1982 by Church member Beeb Jackson. The Session approved of the idea and the Trustees concurred if a minimum of eighteen children enrolled.

Although shy of eighteen students, the Session agreed to open the school as a way to meet the needs of working parents in the community.

Today, The Tree House has approximately 24 staff members and serves approximately 120 children from ages 2 to 5. It provides full and half day programs for preschool. The Tree House continues its original dedication to providing nurturing, stimulating, and developmentally appropriate enrichment to the children enrolled in the program.

Philosophy

It is the goal of The Tree House to provide a quality preschool and childcare center to meet the needs of the families in the community. Its purpose is to operate a professionally staffed, state certified, Christian center. At The Tree House, we encourage the development of the individual potential within each child with the goal of helping that child to achieve a positive self-image.

The philosophy behind our curriculum is that young children learn best by doing. Learning is not just repeating what someone else says; it requires active thinking and experimenting to find out how things work and to learn first hand about the world in which we live.

In their early years, children explore the world around them by using their five senses (sight, hearing, touch, smell and taste). In using real materials such as manipulatives, and through observation and experimentation, children learn about sizes, shapes, colors, sounds and numbers and they notice relationships between things.

In time, children learn to use one object to stand for another. This is the beginning of symbolic thinking. These early symbols are similar in shape to the objects they represent. Eventually, children become more and more able to use abstract symbols, like words, to describe their thoughts and feelings. They learn to "read" pictures which are symbols for real people, places and things. This exciting development in symbolic thinking takes place during the preschool years as children play.

"Play" provides the foundation for academic or "school" learning. It is the preparation children need before they learn highly abstract concepts such as interpretive reasoning, sounds and number concepts. "Play" enables us to achieve the key goals of our early childhood curriculum. "Play" is the work of young children.

The Tree House strives to provide a warm and nurturing community that is loving and supportive of each child's own learning. Our goal is to provide an experience that is fun, educational, meaningful, and developmentally appropriate for the children.

Office Information

Registration/Applications

Our program is open to children of all faiths and denominations. Registration begins in January for the upcoming year. Children must be the appropriate age and meet the cut-off dates (October 1st) for a class in order to be enrolled in it.

Priority registration is given to existing Tree House children, their siblings and members of the Presbyterian Church of Basking Ridge. Applications are then accepted from anyone interested in attending The Tree House.

Class placement is determined at the Director's discretion. All class sizes are limited. Minimums must be met for a class to run.

The Registration Process includes completion of registration forms, payment of a *non-refundable* application fee and payment of one month's tuition. For additional information, please see Tuition Policy.

Tuition Policy

School tuition, payable in monthly installments, is set by The Tree House Board of Director's in accordance with the programs being offered and is designed to cover expenses within the contracted enrollment. The following policies pertain to tuition and associated extra fees:

At the time of registration, one month's tuition is due. Thereafter, monthly tuition payments are due one month in advance on the first of each month. Checks should be made payable to The Tree House and mailed or delivered to The Tree House office. If payment is not received by the 10^{th} of the month, a late fee of \$15.00 will be imposed. Should payment not be received by the 10^{th} of the month, the child will not be permitted to continue in the school's programs. The participant will, however, continue to be responsible for any outstanding tuition payments and fees.

In the event a check is returned by a bank due to insufficient funds, a \$25.00 service charge will be imposed.

There is no childcare before 7:30 AM or after 6:00 PM.

A late fee of \$15.00 per quarter hour or part will be imposed for pickups after the normal closing. This is 12:45 PM for the morning session and 6:00 PM for the afternoon session. Tardiness in excess of three may result in dismissal from the program.

Children staying on an unscheduled basis will be charged at the rate of \$16.00 per hour. In order for your child to stay extra hours, prior approval is required from the Director.

All extra fees are payable at the end of the month in which they were accrued.

No refund of payment will be given in the event of: (1) withdrawal of pupil without one month's written notice; (2) change of schedule unless approval has been received one month in advance from the Director; (3) withdrawal of pupil after April 1st for the current Sept.-June contract; (4) absence occurring at any time during the school year regardless of reason (including, but not restricted to, holidays, illness or weather related school closing); (5) no refunds or changes may be made after June 1st for the Summer Camp Program; and (6) withdrawal after June 1st for the following September admission. Refunds will be mailed within 60 days of notice.

Tuition is charged strictly according to the tuition schedule. Any deviation from this schedule will be computed in terms of half and full days attended and not extra hours. The tuition cost will be set by the Director and The Tree House Board.

Once a schedule of attendance days has been established for the child, as documented in the individual's contract, no substitution or exchange of days within a month shall be permitted and all changes in contracted days and additional days require approval from the Director in advance.

Tuition Schedule

Tuition	Due
September Tuition	At time of Registration
October Tuition	September 1st
November Tuition	October 1st
December Tuition	November 1st
January Tuition	December 1st
February Tuition	January 1st
March Tuition	February 1st
April Tuition	March 1st
May Tuition	April 1st
June Tuition	May 1st

Family Information

Role of Parents

Upon arrival and dismissal, every child, regardless of age, is required to be accompanied by an adult up the path and into the classroom to the teacher. In the afternoon, parents must come into the building to pick up a child. It is in everyone's best interest that children are picked up promptly. A late fee will be imposed for pick-up after the normal closing time of the program in which your child is enrolled (See Tuition Policy). Parents who are continuously late for pick up will be contacted by the Director, and, if necessary, asked to remove their child from the program.

For the safety of your child, parents are asked to park in the Allen Street parking lot next to Finley Avenue and not along Finley Avenue. The parking lot in front of the playground is reserved for staff parking only. No vehicles may drive up the path through the cemetery or park in designated fire lanes.

The cemetery that we walk through to get to the Tree House is extremely old. We request that you be diligent in keeping your children off of the grass, encouraging them to walk on the paved areas only. Some of the gravestones are extremely old and delicate and could be knocked over with the slightest push. Thank you in advance for your attention to this matter.

Parents are invited to participate in the program as much as possible. If parents have any special talents, hobbies, or interests that they would like to share with the children, we encourage them to make arrangements with the teacher.

Tree House Parent Organization

THPO had its first inception in November of 2009. Parents have the opportunity to get involved in fund raising events, staff recognition, school assistance and seasonal decorating. Getting involved in THPO is a wonderful opportunity to make social connections while providing avenues for the school to offer the best it can to its children and community.

Family Communication Policy

The Tree House believes that communication between home and school is vital to a successful preschool program. Because of this, The Tree House communicates in many different ways with their families.

The Tree House uses the following tools to communicate with families regarding school-wide, non-emergency information:

- Constant Contact Newsletter from the Director (weekly or bi-weekly)
- TH email (<u>name@thpreschool.com</u>)
- Telephone (908-221-1619)
- TH Website (<u>www.thpreschool.com</u>)
- Parent Orientation (in September)
- Back to School Night (in late September or early October)
- Notices in child's school bag or lunch bag

The Tree House Director also maintains a Facebook page. This page is used to share:

- Current school events
- Photos of events (with parental permission, no names are used)
- Upcoming calendar events

For emergency closing, delayed openings, etc., the school utilizes an emergency alert system. Please see the Emergency Alert section for more information on this system.

Class-specific information is also communicated to parents in the following ways:

- TH email (each teacher has her/his own TH email address)
- Monthly calendar: At the beginning of the month, parents receive a calendar highlighting specific activities, themes, etc. for the month.
- Weekly newsletters: Newsletters are provided to the parents at the end of each week.

- White board: At the end of the day, each teacher will place a note on the white board outside the classroom so that parents will know what activities were included in the day.
- Daily Note: For our two year olds, parents will receive a daily note regarding their child's school day.
- School bag or lunch box: Finally, please be sure to check the contents of your child's school bag each night so that you can find important notes, art projects, and so forth.
- Parent-teacher conferences: Conferences are held two times per school year (fall and spring). Each conference is a time for parents and teachers to have an opportunity to discuss the growth and development of the child.

Often times, parents have questions regarding their own child. We ask that during arrival and dismissal times, staff members must devote full attention to all of the children. Please keep conversations brief. If you need to communicate specific information, a written note or email is preferred.

If, at any time, you have special concerns, please feel free to contact your child's teacher – use email, send a note, or call the office to leave a message. Teachers have prep time from 1:00 – 2:00 PM on the days your child attends The Tree House and can accept your call at that time. If you have a message for a teacher during school hours, please call or email the office, and we will relay the message. The teacher will respond as soon as possible.

Finally, please do not discuss problems or concerns in the presence of your child or other parents. Please communicate with the teacher about any changes at home or within the family (i.e., parent on a trip, family member in the hospital, sick grandparent). These changes can affect your child's behavior, and it is useful for staff to be aware of these developments. The Tree House will always respect your privacy.

Home Language Policy

The Tree House welcomes families of all backgrounds. We make every effort to ease communication challenges when we have children who speak a different language in their homes. Our staff encourages children to use their home language, gestures, communication devices (if appropriate and provided by the parent), sign language and pictures to communicate when needed. If necessary, parents may be asked to provide age appropriate materials that will assist in the communication process.

Absence Policy

If your child is going to be out of school for any reason, please let the office know. For illnesses, this is especially important so that we can inform families of any communicable disease

symptoms while maintaining confidentiality. In addition, teachers and children miss a child when they are absent, so they would like to know that the child is okay.

The Tree House is required to track and monitor attendance. Because of this, we will contact families when a child is absent more than 3 consecutive days if we have not had communication from the family regarding the absence.

Arrivals and Departures (signing in and out)

- 1. Parents must accompany their child to their classroom and complete the Daily Sign-In Sheet. Then, parents should speak directly to a classroom teacher to let them know verbally that their child is here and ready for school.
- 2. Parents must pick-up their child in their classroom and complete the Daily Sign-Out Sheet. After signing out, parents should greet their child and verbally acknowledge that they are picking up their child.
 - ❖ At that time, the teachers and the Center are no longer responsible for your child. Please be sure that you know where your child is at all times.

For safety purposes, children are only released to their parents or individuals on the Emergency Contact Form. If someone other than a parent will be picking up the child, please ensure his/her name is on the Emergency Form or provide a note to the child's teacher with the designated pick up person's name on it. Also, please ensure that the individual brings a valid photo ID.

For security reasons, the doors to the school will remain locked. Parents will receive a key card to open the doors at the beginning of the school year. If the card is lost or additional cards are needed, a small fee will be charged for each additional/replacement card.

Snow Policy

The Tree House will close for snow days if travel is hazardous. The Director will make the decision by 7:00 AM as to a delayed opening or a school closing. When there is a delayed opening, the school will open at 9:30 AM for our early arrival students. School will begin at 10:30 AM. Parents may call the school after 7:00 AM for a recorded message. Parents will also receive notification by 7:00 AM through the SchoolReach emergency notification system.

In the event of an early closing, parents will receive notification of the closing through the SchoolReach emergency notification system.

Emergency Notification System

The Tree House uses a telephone broadcast system that enables school personnel to notify all households and parents by phone within minutes of an emergency or unplanned event that

causes early dismissal, school cancellation or late start. This service is provided by Honeywell, a company specializing in school-to-parent communications.

Emergency Plan

If an emergency situation occurs in or around the Center, we have prepared an emergency operations plan. If we need to go to a central location, we will proceed to Calvin Hall. If we need to vacate the premises, we will proceed to either the lower playground or to the Church house across the street. The main office is the primary command post with the Witherspoon room being used for dismissal. The director's office is the alternative on site command post. A copy of the entire Emergency Plan is available for review in the director's office.

Birthday Celebrations

Children are welcome to celebrate their birthdays at school. Please consult with your child's teacher in advance so that the teacher can plan appropriately. You are welcome to bring in a special snack (or send it in with your child). Please do not send in party favors or special paper goods. Children who have birthdays in the summer will have a special celebration sometime at the end of the year.

Clothing

Your child should wear play clothes designed so that he/she can become independent in dressing and toileting. For safety reasons, children should wear rubber-soled shoes. Please, no sandals and no necklaces or drawstrings around the neck of the clothing.

The outerwear must be suitable for the temperature and the weather. Boots will be needed when the ground is damp and throughout the winter as we try to provide outside playtime whenever the weather permits. *All clothing must be marked with the child's name.* A complete change of marked clothing should be provided for each child. When used, this change should be replaced on the following day.

Parents of full day children are required to purchase a compact sleep bag for rest time. These are available at The Tree House office for a minimal charge. Some children like to bring in a stuffed animal from home to help them relax. Bedding should be taken home every Friday to be laundered and should be returned the next time the child returns to school the following week.

Remember that when dressing your child paint does splatter, juice does spill, and the weather changes.

Field Trips

On occasion, the children will either leave the building for a field trip or an event will be provided at the school. In both cases it is necessary to receive permission and payment (when applicable) from the parents for each trip/event. Your child's participation in any field trip is purely optional, however if you do not wish for your child to attend these events then other arrangements must be made for your child for that day and he or she may not come to school.

Parent chaperones may be requested for off-site field trips. No more than two (2) chaperones per class may attend unless a specific need is identified by the classroom teacher.

Policy on the Use of Social Media

This social media policy applies to TH parents, TH families, members of staff, students, PTO committee members and volunteers at Tree House Child Caring Center.

This policy includes (but is not limited to) the following technologies:

- Social networking sites (e.g. Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, Snap Chat)
- Blogs
- Discussion forums
- Media Sharing services (i.e. You Tube)

As part of our duty to safeguard children, it is essential to maintain the privacy and security of all our families. We therefore require that:

- No photographs taken within the Tree House grounds or at Tree House special
 events and outings with the children, are to be posted for public viewing, except
 those of your own child. Parents and family members are advised that they do not
 have a right to photograph anyone else's child or to upload photos of anyone else's
 children including, but not limited to, the technologies listed above.
- No public discussions are to be held or comments made on social media sites
 regarding The Tree House children, staff or school business (except appropriate use
 for marketing fund raising events) or that could be construed to have any impact
 on the preschool's reputation or that would offend any member of staff, parent or
 family who is part of The Tree House.

Social Media

- Staff are advised to manage their personal security settings to ensure that their information is only available to people with whom they choose to share information.
- Staff should not accept Tree House children and families as friends due to it being a
 breach of expected professional conduct unless they already know them in a
 personal capacity before their child starts at the school. Staff should avoid personal
 communication, including on social networking sites, with the children and families

with whom they act in a professional capacity.

- In the event that staff name The Tree House in any social media they must do so in a way that is not detrimental to the organization or its families.
- Staff observe confidentiality and refrain from discussing any issues relating to work
- Staff should not share information they would not want children, parents or colleagues to view.
- Staff should report any concerns or breaches to the designated person in their setting.

Any member of staff, student or volunteer found to be posting remarks or comments that breach confidentiality, bring The Tree House into disrepute or that are deemed to be of a detrimental nature to the school or other employees, or posting/publishing photographs of the setting, children or staff, may face disciplinary action in line with the school's disciplinary procedures (students may be asked to leave immediately).

Any comment deemed to be inappropriate is to be reported to The Tree House Director and any action taken will be at her/his discretion.

General guidelines for using Social Media

- Personal security settings should be managed to ensure that information is only available to people you choose to share information with.
- Remember that no information sent over the web is totally secure and as such if you do
 not wish the information to be made public refrain from sending it through social
 media.
- Maintain professionalism, honesty and respect.
- Apply a "good judgement" test for every social media post you make.

Shutterfly Share Sites

Staff will use Shutterfly Share Sites to share photos with parents in the classroom. Each classroom will have its own Share Site and only parents in that class will have access to the Site. While parents have access to the photos and may download photos from this site, the TH Policy on the Use of Social Media applies to all photos acquired from it.

Policy on the Use of Technology in the Classroom

In October of 2016, The American Academy of Pediatrics updated the recommendation for children ages 2 to 5 years, recommending limiting screen use to 1 hour per day of high-quality programs. Too much screen time has been linked to obesity, irregular sleep, behavioral problems, impaired academic performance, violence and less time for play.

As part of The Tree House's curriculum, "technology" shall include TV, computer and video usage.

Teaching staff will:

- For children 2 years and older:
 - o Only offer media in conjunction with learning themes and must be academically appropriate.
 - o Never use media as a substitute for planned activities or passive viewing
 - o Never use media during meal times or snack time
- Take advantage of training courses and resources which update their knowledge and understanding of effects of media on young children
- Work with parents and families, when necessary, to help them understand the importance of limiting media exposure for the physical and psychological health and well-being of their child.

Health and Nutrition Information

Nutrition and Physical Activity Policy

Due to the rise in childhood obesity, The Tree House has taken an active role in promoting healthy eating and physical activity through supporting, educating and engaging parents in developing a healthy living environment.

The Tree House is a part of the Let's Move Healthy Child Care Movement. For this reason, our program implements national health and safety standards and embeds these practices into daily routines. We expect that children will come to school with a well-balanced lunch and healthy snacks.

* Please ensure that ALL food sent to school is NUT FREE.

Healthy Eating Guidelines:

- The Tree House follows the USDA Meal Guidelines. Please see pages 41-42 of this handbook for more details.
- Please send a healthy snack with your child every day. Please ensure that it is labeled with your child's name. We request that parents send healthy snacks, a whole grain snack and fruit or vegetable is ideal. If your child attends full day, please send a second healthy snack for the afternoon, labeled as such.
- Water is available at all times in the classrooms. While a drink does not need to be sent for snack we ask that all families send in a reusable water bottle labeled with your child's name.

Eating Environment:

• Children will be given 20-30 minutes to enjoy meals.

• Staff members will sit, eat and converse with the children during meal times.

Lunches from Home:

- It is important that children have a well-balanced, healthy meal for lunch. For this reason, please provide healthy choices of whole grains, meat (or alternatives), vegetables and fruit. Please make sure portions are child-sized.
- Please provide beverages such as lowfat milk, 100% juice or water. Please try to avoid sugary drinks.

Physical Activity Guidelines:

- Outdoor time is in safe settings, including play equipment and open space, supervised by adults.
- Children spend 30 minutes or more outside (weather permitting) each morning and afternoon.
- A variety of indoor equipment is available, such as balls, hoops, and tumbling mats.

Physical Activity Education:

- Teach children about physical activity and make it fun.
- Include information in newsletters to encourage families to be active.
- Physical activity shall not be used as a punishment.
- Physical activity shall not be withheld except when a child's behavior is dangerous to himself and others.

Physical Activity Promotion Guidelines:

- Ensure physical activity is co-operative and noncompetitive in nature.
- Ensure all physical activities are developmentally appropriate.
- Follow safety recommendations for all equipment and activities.
- Limit screen time (computer, video games, movies) to 30 minutes a week, or less, for ages 2 and older.
- Incorporate physical activity into group times and special events.

Food Service Policy

The Tree House does not have a food service provided. Water is available to the children throughout the day. Parents are asked to send appropriate, healthy snacks and lunches to school with their children. Please see the Nutrition and Physical Activity Policy on page 16 of this manual. If a child does not have a snack that meets USDA meal guidelines, parents will be notified and an appropriate snack may be provided.

Breastfeeding Policy

While The Tree House does not have students of breastfeeding age, we provide a breastfeeding friendly environment. Mothers are welcome to breastfeed their babies in the Witherspoon room. We support breastfeeding employees as well. Employees have access to a clean, private location (Witherspoon Room) to nurse their babies or express their milk and employees are able to break as necessary to do so. Breast milk is accepted and stored in the refrigerator in The Tree House kitchen.

Sun Protection

All parents are requested to apply a generous coating of sunscreen on their children before sending them to school on sunny days.

Parents of full day students are required to complete a permission slip allowing The Tree House to apply sunscreen. Parents are asked to leave sunscreen at school for their children. It will be applied in the afternoon as needed. Sunscreen is not shared among the children; only the lotion you provide will be used by your child. Please be sure the container is clearly marked with the child's name and given directly to the class teacher.

Personal Hygiene Requirements

We accept children in our 2 and 3 Year Old Programs in diapers, but we strongly encourage children in the 3 year old classes to be toilet trained. Diapers are changed as needed in a designated changing area. Gloves are worn as needed. 4 year olds must be potty trained.

Teachers will be supportive of each child's individual toilet training styles/habits. We encourage you to communicate your child's toilet training needs to our teachers so the transition will be made as easy as possible for everyone; however we do not toilet train your child. This process must begin at home.

Preventative Health Care Policy

Our Health Care Policy is in compliance with the New Jersey Division of Licensing for Child Care. Each child is required to be in good health, to have an annual physical examination and to be fully immunized. All families are encouraged to have a medical home. A medical home is an important mechanism for uniting the many segments of a child's care, including behavioral and oral health. The medical home is a cultivated partnership between the patient, family, and primary provider in cooperation with specialists and support from the community.

In order to attend The Tree House, every child must submit a Universal Health Record completed by the child's physician with attached immunization record prior to the child's first day of school. The Emergency Medical Information Sheet must be returned with the child by the first day of school. No child will be permitted to stay at the school without these forms on file. In addition, in accordance with NJ State Law, all children under 60 months of age must receive a flu shot by January 1st of the current school year in order to attend the school.

Please do not send your child to school if he/she has exhibited any signs of communicable diseases within the past 24 hours including fever, vomiting and/or diarrhea. If your child becomes ill while at The Tree House program you will be notified and expected to pick up your child or arrange to have him/her picked up as soon as possible. For more information on this, please see the section *The Tree House Communicable Disease Prevention Policy*, on page 19.

Hand washing is the first line of defense against disease. We are vigilant with both children and adults that hands are washed before eating or cooking, after toileting, handling body secretions and after cleaning. *Please remember to have your child wash hands before entering the classroom in the morning.*

In the event of an emergency or accident involving your child, all efforts will be made to contact you immediately. If we are unable to reach you or your emergency contacts, in the case of a respiratory emergency or if there is profuse bleeding, an ambulance will be summoned if deemed necessary by The Tree House staff.

Oral Health Policy

While The Tree House does not offer oral health care at our facility, we believe it is extremely important for each child to have a dentist as part of his/her medical home. The Tree House stresses the importance of having good dental hygiene through regular conversations with the children. The school also sponsors a visit from a local dentist who provides the children with an age appropriate lesson on the importance of tooth brushing, use of floss and general good dental hygiene.

Communicable Disease Prevention Policy

(As per the N.J. Dept. of Human Services, Division of Youth and Family Services licensing requirements)

If a child exhibits any of the following symptoms, he/she should not attend The Tree House. If such symptoms occur at The Tree House, the child will be separated from the other children and you will be called to take him/her home.

- Severe pain or discomfort
- Diarrhea

- Vomiting
- Elevated oral temperature of 100.5 Fahrenheit**
- Lethargy
- Sore throat or severe coughing
- Yellow eyes or jaundice skin
- Red eyes with discharge
- Infected, untreated skin patches
- Difficult or rapid breathing
- Skin rashes in conjunction with fever or behavior changes
- Skin lesions that are weeping or bleeding
- Mouth sores with drooling
- Stiff Neck

Once the child is symptom free, (**with an elevated temperature the child must be fever free for 24 hours, a child must also go 24 hours with no vomiting and/or diarrhea) or has a physician's note stating that he/she no longer poses a serious health risk to himself/herself or others, he/she may return to The Tree House.

Excludable Communicable Diseases

A child or staff member who contracts an excludable communicable disease (see page 35 of this handbook) may not return to the center without a health care provider's note stating that the child presents no risk to himself/herself or others.

Note: If a child has chicken pox, a note from the parent stating that all sores have dried and crusted is required.

If a child is exposed to any excludable disease at the center, parents will be notified in writing.

Communicable Disease Reporting Guidelines

Some excludable diseases must be reported to the health department by the center. The Department of Health's Reporting Requirements of Communicable Diseases and Work-Related Conditions Quick Reference Guide, a complete list of reportable excludable communicable diseases is included in this handbook on page 35. (OOL/APRIL 2017)

Lice Policy

If a staff member is concerned that a child is infected with lice, she/he is obligated to notify the center's Director.

On the day of detection, a child infected with lice will be allowed to remain at the center under careful supervision so as not to infect other children. However, the child will not be allowed to return to the

program until the child has been treated and no further lice are detected during the child's daily health check.

All objects that children might have shared such as hats, blankets, dress up clothes and pillows will be retrieved from the child's classroom and play area immediately and sealed in plastic bags until they can be laundered.

The affected area will be cleaned thoroughly. All soft surfaces, carpets, furniture, etc. will be shampooed thoroughly the same evening. Drapes will be removed and dry cleaned or laundered.

Parents of the infected child will be:

- 1. Notified in a private conversation,
- 2. Given written notification of the problem and the center policy,
- 3. Provided with guidance for resolving the problem. Parents of the infected child must take home the child's sleeping bag, pillow, blanket, clothing and launder them in hot soapy water for a minimum of 20 minutes before bringing them back to the program.

Lice are a health issue. Therefore the child's identity will be shared only on a "need to know" basis to rid the center of the problem.

Child will not be allowed to return to school until she/he is lice and nit free.

If the incidences are isolated, letters are not sent to all parents. Letters are sent to all parents when the Executive Director determines there's a risk of an epidemic.

Medication Administration Policy

The following guidelines will be followed for the administration of medication at The Tree House Child Caring Center:

- 1. In certain medical situations such as diabetes, seizure disorders and asthmatics, The Tree house reserves the right to call qualified emergency personnel to administer medications that the staff does not feel qualified to administer.
- 2. Medication will be given only after receipt of written authorization and instructions from the child's parent(s). Parents must update their authorization and instructions each day that the medication is to be given.
- 3. Non-prescription, over the counter medication will not be administered unless accompanied by a doctor's note. It is particularly important that aspirin never be administered without a doctor's note.
- 4. Parents must deliver any medication to the Director or office staff. All medication will be stored in a secure area that is inaccessible to the children.
- 5. All medication must be prescribed for the child who is receiving it. It must be stored in its original container which has been labeled with the child's name, the name of the

- medication, the date it was prescribed or updated, and the directions for administration.
- 6. Parents are responsible for picking up the medication at the end of each day or when no longer being administered.
- 7. Trained staff members giving medication will follow directions carefully, using a measuring spoon, not an ordinary teaspoon, for giving liquid medication. Children will be watched to be sure medication has been swallowed. Containers will be removed from the child's reach immediately. Staff members will observe a child carefully for twenty minutes after having administered medication to watch for any adverse effects. Additionally, staff members will never take medication of their own in front of the children.
- 8. The Tree House will maintain on file a record of:
 - The child's name and parental authorization;
 - The name of the medication;
 - The instructions for administering the medication, including the dosage and frequency;
 - The time and by whom the medication was administered to the child; and
 - Any adverse effect the medication may have had on the child

This record will be updated each day that the medication is to be given.

It should be noted by parents that there is <u>not</u> a nurse on staff at The Tree House.

Sudden Infant Death Syndrome and Shaken Baby Syndrome

While TH does not have children who attend who meet the standard age range for these syndromes, it is vital that all families have access to the latest research on these topics. Please see pages 42-45 for more information.

Special Services Information

Screening and Referral Policy

The Tree House uses the Ages and Stages Questionnaire (ASQ), a screening tool, as one way to learn about a child's development and skill levels. The ASQ is a research-based developmental screening tool that is used for all children, birth through age 5. The screening tool, which is completed by a parent/guardian, shows how a child is developing in comparison to the standardized "typically developing" child. It allows teachers to identify areas on which to focus in order to meet an individual child's needs.

Our certified staff members are professionally trained to observe a range of age appropriate behaviors in young children. During ongoing parent-teacher communications, your child's teacher will share observations concerning your child. In addition, upon entry (or within 30

days of a child's start date), all parents will be given the ASQ to fill out as part of the Developmental Screening Program. If any discrepancies are evident based on parental results and teacher observation, another screening may be completed by the teacher. If this occurs, a meeting will be scheduled in which the parents and teacher will meet to review the results and discuss further plans.

Based on the outcome of parent/teacher meetings, the school reserves the right to recommend a privately trained "shadow," to be paid for by the parent, to work one-on-one with their child in order for them to continue their child's education at The Tree House. Should recommendations be made in reference to your child's behavior, the Director and your child's teacher will meet to share any additional referral services, both public and private.

Project Child Find

Based on classroom observations and any results received through the ASQ, the Tree House may suggest an additional evaluation of a given student. This evaluation would be completed by the public school district for children three to five years of age and Early Intervention for children up to age three.

3 to 5 Years of Age

The various school districts that will enroll Tree House students have a responsibility to locate and evaluate all their resident students with disabilities who are in need of special education and related services, including students with disabilities attending nonpublic schools. The districts locate, identify and evaluate, where appropriate, children below school entry age, 3 to 5.

Upon written request, the school district will conduct an initial identification meeting for any resident child to determine whether a referral for special education and related services is appropriate.

The contact person for the Bernards Township School District is Jean O'Connell. Please call the Office of Special Services at (908) 204-2600 ext. 121 for more information. Families in other districts should contact their Superintendents office for more information.

Birth to Age 3

Upon identification of a child's possible concerns or challenges, the parent will first be advised to bring the specified concerns to the child's pediatrician.

In addition, the New Jersey State Department of Education, through Project Child Find, has established Project CHILD FIND, a free public awareness and referral service, to assist families, professionals and interested individuals in identifying available early intervention, preschool

handicapped and special education programs and service throughout New Jersey. The phone number is 1-800-322-8174.

Behavioral/Mental Health/Community Resources

In addition to preventative health care, there are many additional resources available to parents. Please use the links below for additional information. In addition, many of these documents are available weekly in The Tree House email. All of these resources can also be found at www.njparentlink.nj.gov.

Developmental Milestones: http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/actearly/milestones/index.html
Positive Parenting:

http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/childdevelopment/positiveparenting/index.html

Special Child Resources: http://nj.gov/health/fhs/sch/index.shtml

Developmental and Behavioral Evaluation Centers: http://nj.gov/health/fhs/sch/cec.shtml

Community Resources:

Mom2Mom: http://ubhc.rutgers.edu/mom2mom/index.htm

Statewide Parent Advocacy Network: http://www.spanadvocacy.org/

Family Success Centers: http://www.state.nj.us/dcf/families/support/success/

Program Overview

Our program is designed to encourage children to become independent, self confident and inquisitive learners through active play. The program exposes each child to various experiences. Age appropriate hands-on activities are planned according to a variety of studies and themes, which provide children with meaningful learning experiences.

Children and parents will have the opportunity to meet their teacher before the first day of school. All parents will be able to share specific information and concerns about their child at this time.

Curriculum

The Tree House follows The Creative Curriculum[™], a nationally- and state-recognized curriculum for young children. The curriculum allows the teachers to focus on the whole child and is designed to meet the diverse social, physical, emotional and cognitive needs of individual children. It also promotes curiosity, persistence, creativity and initiative as approaches to learning. Additionally, the program fosters a sense of self-respect, concern for others, independence and environmental awareness.

Creativity Statement

The Tree House is extremely interested in the development of creative expression. Some of the projects the children bring home (and work on in school) will be teacher-directed, but for the most part we will strive to provide activities that involve children in discovery, exploration, independence and free expression. We are most focused with the process – the giving of one's self to drawing, painting, and constructing – rather than the end product.

Please help your child's teachers by not expecting each piece of artwork to be a representation of something recognizable. We never ask, "What is it?" of a child. Children's artwork is often nothing more than an exploration of materials. It is much more important that art be a means of self-expression rather than a realistic representation.

A good response to a child's work of art is "Can you tell me about it?" When asked in that manner, the child does not feel a loss of self-esteem, if by chance the product is not meant to "be" anything. You might mention the colors or the lines.

We hope this statement will help you understand our goals and the "masterpieces" you will be receiving this year.

2-2 ½ Year Old Programs

This program is designed to provide the 2 and 2 ½ year olds with a secure and caring environment to make their first steps away from home safe and comfortable. This program of play-based educational activities includes: circle time, music, story time, snack time, arts and crafts, free play, outdoor/indoor play – all done in a supportive and loving way.

Social and Emotional Development

We will be working on...

- Dealing effectively with separation issues while developing a sense of security.
- Beginning to understand basic self reliance skills.
- Sharing and interacting with peers.
- Becoming aware of other people's feelings.
- Beginning to develop self-respect and a positive self image.
- Learning to make simple transitions from one activity to another while following a classroom routine.
- Practicing simple manners i.e., *please*, *thank you* and taking turns.
- Introducing the concept of personal hygiene.
- Making the child's first school experience fun and meaningful while engaging in a positive manner, with adults and other children outside of the home environment.
- Developing independence.

Cognitive and Language Development

We will be working on:

- Responding to simple directions, including classroom rules.
- Understanding a daily routine.
- Recognizing common objects.
- Exposure to numbers, colors, and shapes.
- Initial discovery of the alphabet.
- Providing opportunities for language development through: circle time, singing, story telling, arts and crafts, etc.

Music

Daily music will provide children with an opportunity to explore their world through sing-a-longs, finger plays and other musical expressions.

Fine Motor Development

Achieve eye-hand coordination through: coloring, working with manipulatives, playing with dough and clay, painting, folding, cutting, tearing, etc.

Gross Motor Development

Achieve body awareness through: dancing, jumping, climbing, stretching, throwing, etc.

3 Year Old Program

Our 3 year old program is designed to provide children with a nurturing, caring environment where they feel safe to continue to learn and grow as individuals. By examining the child's own world, including nature, the seasons, the community, the family and so forth, children become aware of themselves and others around them. The program of educational play experiences includes: circle time, music, story time, snack time, arts and crafts, centers, and indoor/outdoor play.

Social and Emotional Development

We will be working on:

- Continuing the process of fostering self-reliance and self-control.
- Reinforcing good manners including: sharing and health values.
- Reinforcing personal hygiene.
- Continuing to develop independence, a positive self-image and self-respect.
- Beginning to develop effective "self-help" skills.
- Following classroom rules and safety as well as daily routines.
- Developing communication and problem solving skills.

• Following simple step-by-step directions.

Cognitive and Language Development

We will be working on:

- Exposure to numbers, colors, patterns and shapes.
- Beginning to recognize letters and their sounds.
- Enhancing language development with quality children's literature read a-louds.
- Increasing knowledge of the alphabet.
- Pre-math skills, including: one-to-one correspondence, sorting, calendar activities.
- Recognizing spatial relationships (big/small, puzzles, building with blocks, etc.)

Music

Daily music will provide children with an opportunity to explore their world through sing-a-longs, finger plays and other musical expressions.

Fine Motor Development

 Achieve eye-hand coordination through: coloring, working with manipulatives, playing with dough and clay, painting, folding, cutting, etc.

Gross Motor Development

- Achieve body awareness through: dancing, jumping, climbing, stretching, throwing, etc.
- Develop a sense of each body part and how it works.
- Balance.
- Using playground equipment to enhance physical development.

4 Year Old Program

Our 4 year old program is designed to enhance self-esteem, listening skills, ability to follow directions, and the child's importance to the group. This program of play-based educational activities promotes each child to grow socially – encouraging consideration for others, self-sufficiency, and self-discipline in a happy and productive setting. Children will continue to be involved in circle time, centers, music, arts and crafts, snack time, story time, indoor/outdoor play – all in a nurturing and caring environment.

Social and Emotional Development

We will be working on:

- Fostering positive problem solving skills, while expressing needs and feelings towards others (peers and adults).
- Improving self-reliance skills such as:
 - o Ability to take care of all personal hygiene needs.

- o Encouragement of independence.
- Demonstrating respect and concern for other children, adults, and property.
- Reinforcing the use of manners when relating to peers and adults.
- Continuing development of positive self-esteem by focusing on each child's personal style.

Cognitive and Language Development

We will be working on:

- Expressing our ideas and opinions through class discussions about different subjects, calendar activities, poems, finger plays, and most importantly, books
- Following directions.
- Incorporating independent daily routines.
- Maintaining focus on a chosen task.

Reading Readiness

Exposure to:

- Sound recognition.
- Distinguishing words that begin with the same sound.
- Developing a basic level of listening comprehension

Writing Readiness

Exposure to:

- Recognition of number concepts.
- Rote counting.
- Beginning to identify patterns.
- Identifying size differences, sequencing objects by size, categorizing objects, etc.
- One-to-one correspondence.

Music

Daily music will provide children with an opportunity to explore their world through sing-a-longs, finger plays and other musical expressions.

Fine Motor Development

• Achieve eye-hand coordination through: Coloring, working with manipulatives, playing with dough and clay, painting, folding, cutting, etc.

Gross Motor Development

- Achieve body awareness through: dancing, jumping, climbing, stretching, throwing, etc.
- Develop a sense of each body part and how it works.

- Balance.
- Using playground equipment to enhance physical development.

4 Plus Class

Our 4 Plus class program is designed to foster an early love of learning and to develop skills and attitudes essential for success in school. Our curriculum encourages children to be active and creative explorers. Literacy, math and science concepts, and art are taught through themes, allowing for an engaging school day. Through integrated units of study, children have an opportunity to learn through center activities, music, art, and play.

Children in this program will explore these concepts, but are not required to master them before entering Kindergarten. Children learn these concepts at their own pace. Children will be taught with hands-on materials, songs, and games.

In addition to the skills introduced in our 4 Year Old Program, the 4 Plus class will be working on:

Literacy Development

We will be working on:

- Daily exposure to alphabet: letter names and sounds
- Recognizing, spelling, writing first name
- Holding a pencil, marker, crayon correctly
- Retelling and drawing pictures about stories and experiences
- Answering questions about stories
- Understanding concepts of print: left to right direction.
- Building new vocabulary and listening skills

Math Development

We will be working on:

- Recognizing numerals 1-50
- Counting, sorting and patterning
- One-to-one correspondence of objects
- Identifying sizes and shapes
- Matching: symbols, shapes, patterns, etc.
- Graphing, charting and recording data
- Exploring measurement

Social Development

We will be working on:

- Practicing problem-solving skills in social situations
- Working in groups or with a partner on a variety of projects
- Sharing classroom materials with the group
- Practicing using good manners: please, thank you, excuse me, table manners

Music

Daily music will provide children with an opportunity to explore their world through sing-a-longs, finger plays and other musical expressions.

Fine Motor Development

- Achieve eye-hand coordination through: Coloring, working with manipulatives, playing with dough and clay, painting, folding, cutting, etc.
- Proper use of scissors.

Gross Motor Development

- Achieve body awareness through: dancing, jumping, climbing, stretching, throwing, etc.
- Develop a sense of each body part and how it works.
- Balance.
- Using playground equipment to enhance physical development.

Assessments

The Tree House uses the Teaching Strategies GOLD™ assessment tool. This tool is used by the classrooms to evaluate and track each child's individual development during his/her time at TH. It is an ongoing assessment system, meaning that teachers are continually watching, observing and documenting each child's development. The same tool is used from birth through kindergarten, to allow a more complete picture of each child's development. By tracking a child's development, TH staff are able to plan activities that are appropriate for each child's developmental abilities.

Discipline Policy

At The Tree House, we strive to prevent discipline issues from arising by providing an environment that is comfortable for children in a group setting and provide activities which allow for freedom of choice. We offer many different play centers and activities which keep children busy and happy and allow them to interact in a constructive and stress-free manner.

Adults in the classroom will always model acceptable behavior to children. This is the most basic way in which children learn how we expect them to behave. On occasion, children may become frustrated. When a child's behavior becomes unacceptable or unsafe, **positive discipline** (see more detailed description of Positive Discipline below) is a necessary part of guidance. In these situations, we apply the following procedures to assist the child in regaining self-control.

- 1. **Redirection** When a child is experiencing frustration in a situation, we will direct the child toward another activity where the child may experience more success.
- 2. **Limits** Explaining and defining limits are done in a classroom situation and children are made aware of the behavior that is expected towards others. Children will be reminded on an individual basis when warranted.
- 3. **Reinforcement** Through praise and encouragement, children will learn that acceptable behavior is far more rewarding. Young children learn quickly that positive attention is far more fulfilling than negative attention. In a classroom setting, the praise of their teachers and approval of their peers is often the only reinforcement necessary to maintain a high level of self-esteem. We strive to encourage acceptable behavior at all times and reward that behavior with praise.
- 4. **Time Away** We may choose to remove a child from a play situation or equipment if the child is having difficulty resolving a conflict with the situation or with another child. This will occur if redirecting the child was unsuccessful. The child will be moved away from the area to discuss the problem and to allow the child an opportunity to regain composure. We do not label this discipline procedure as "time out" or "time away." There is no specific place associated with this procedure such as a chair or corner. The child is given sufficient time to amend the behavior and no time period is allocated to this.

Parents will always be notified in person or by phone if a serious discipline issue occurs with their child. In the case of repeated disciplinary incidents, the teacher will contact the parents to discuss how they can work together to resolve these issues so that the child will achieve success in the classroom.

Guidelines for Positive Discipline

Positive discipline is a process of teaching children how to behave appropriately. At The Tree House, positive discipline respects the rights of the individual child, the group, and the adult. Methods of positive discipline shall be consistent with the age and developmental needs of the children, and lead to the ability to develop and maintain self-control.

Positive discipline is different from punishment. Punishment tells children what they should <u>not</u> do; positive discipline tells children what they <u>should</u> do. Punishment teachers fear; positive discipline teaches self-esteem.

You can use positive discipline by planning ahead:

- Anticipate and eliminate potential problems.
- Have a few consistent, clear rules that are explained to children and understood by adults.
- Have a well-planned daily schedule
- Plan for ample elements of fun and humor.
- Include some group decision-making
- Provide time and space for each child to be alone.
- Make it possible for each child to feel he/she has had some positive impact on the group.
- Provide the structure and support children need to resolve their differences.
- Share ownership and responsibility with the children. Talk about our room and our toys.

Positive discipline includes intervening by staff when necessary:

- Re-direct children to a new activity to change the focus of the child's behavior.
- Provide individualized attention to help the child deal with a particular situation
- Use time-out by removing a child for a few minutes from the area or activity so that he/she may gain self-control. (One minute for each year of the child's age is a good rule of thumb).
- Divert the child and remove from the area of conflict.
- Provide alternative activities and acceptable ways to release feelings.
- Point out natural or logical consequences of children's behavior.
- Offer a choice only if there are two acceptable options.
- Criticize the behavior, not the child. Do not say "bad girl"; instead say "That is not allowed here."

You can use positive discipline by showing love and encouragement:

- Catch the child being good. Respond to and reinforce positive behavior; acknowledge or raise to let the child know you approve of what he/she is doing.
- Provide positive reinforcement through natural rewards for good behavior.
- Use encouragement rather than competition, comparison or criticism.
- Overlook small annoyances and deliberately ignore provocations.
- Give hugs and caring to every child every day.
- Appreciate the child's point of view.
- Be loving but don't confuse loving with license.

Positive discipline is NOT:

- Disciplining a child for failing to eat or sleep or for soiling themselves
- Hitting, shaking, or any other form of corporal punishment
- Using abusive language, ridicule, harsh, humiliating or frightening treatment or any other form of emotional punishment of children
- Engaging in or inflicting any form of child abuse and/or neglect
- Withholding food, emotional responses, stimulation, or opportunities for rest or sleep
- Requiring a child to remain silent or inactive for an inappropriately long period of time

Positive discipline takes time, patience, repetition and the willingness to change the way you deal with children. But it's worth it, because positive discipline works.

OOL/GUIDELINES FOR POSITIVE DISCIPLINE/APRIL2017

Additional Policy Information

Release of Children Policy

The pick up procedure at The Tree House Child Caring Center is in accordance with The State of New Jersey's Department of Human Services Division of Youth and Family Services (DYFS) Manual of Requirements for Child Care Centers Article 10:122-6.5 which states:

Each child may be released only to the child's custodial parent(s) or persons authorized. Pick up authorization should be done in writing or by authorization on the child's Emergency Information Sheet located in the Emergency Notebook..

Each child may be released only to the child's parent(s) or person(s) authorized by the parent(s) to take the child from the center and to assume responsibility for the child in an emergency if the parent(s) cannot be reached.

If a non-custodial parent has been denied access, or granted limited access, to a child by a court order, the center shall secure documentation to that effect, maintain a copy on file, and comply with the terms of the court order.

If the parent(s) or person(s) authorized by the parent(s) fails to pick up a child at the time of the center's daily closing, the center shall ensure that:

- 1. The child is supervised at all times;
- 2. Staff members attempt to contact the parent(s) or person(s) authorized by the parents; and
- 3. If a child remains at the center past closing time, the staff members will attempt to contact the parent or authorized person from the white Emergency Medical Information Sheet. An hour or more after closing time, and provided that other

arrangements for releasing the child to his or her parent(s) or authorized person(s) have failed and the staff member(s) cannot continue to supervise the child at the center, the staff member shall call the Department's State Central Registry Hotline (1-877 NJ ABUSE/1-877-652-2873) to seek assistance in caring for the child until the parent(s) or person(s)

If the parent(s) or person(s) authorized by the parent(s) appears to be physically and/or emotionally impaired to the extent that, in the judgment of the director and/or staff member, the child would be placed at risk of harm if released to such an individual, the center shall ensure that:

- 1. The child shall not be released to such an impaired individual;
- 2. Staff members attempt to contact the child's other parent or an alternative person(s) authorized by the parent(s); and
- 3. If the center is unable to make alternative arrangements, as noted in (a)3ii above, a staff member shall call the Department's State Central Registry Hotline (1-877 NJ ABUSE)/1-877-652-2873 to seek assistance in caring for the child.

For the school-age child care programs, no child shall be released from the program unsupervised except upon written instruction from the child's parent(s).

OOL/POLICY ON THE RELEASE OF CHILDREN/APRIL 2017

Expulsion Policy

Unfortunately, there are sometimes reasons we have to expel a child from our program either on a short term or permanent basis. We want you to know we will do everything possible to work with the family of the child(ren) in order to prevent this policy from being enforced. The following are reasons we may have to expel or suspend a child from this center:

Causes for Immediate Expulsion (not necessarily a complete list)

- The child is at risk of causing serious injury to other children or himself/herself.
- Parent threatens physical or intimidating actions toward staff members.
- Parent exhibits verbal abuse to staff in front of enrolled children.

Parental Actions Leading to a Child's Expulsion (not necessarily a complete list)

- Failure to pay/habitual lateness in payments.
- Failure to complete required forms including the child's immunization records.
- Habitual tardiness when picking up your child.
- Verbal abuse to staff.

Child's Action Leading to Expulsion (not necessarily a complete list)

- Failure of child to adjust after a reasonable amount of time.
- Uncontrollable tantrums/ angry outbursts.
- Ongoing physical or verbal abuse to staff or other children.
- Excessive biting.

Schedule for Suspension or Expulsion

If the remedial actions above have not worked, the child's parent/guardian will be advised verbally and in writing about the child's or parent's behavior warranting a suspension or expulsion. A suspension is meant to be for a specific period of time so that the parent/guardian may work on the child's behavior or to come to an agreement with the center.

- The parent/guardian will be informed regarding the length of the suspension period.
- The parent/guardian will be informed about the expected behavioral changes required in order for the child or parent to return to the center.
- The parent/guardian MAY be given a specific suspension date that allows the parent sufficient time to seek alternate child care.
- Failure of the child/parent to satisfy the terms of the plan may result in permanent expulsion from the center.

A Child Will Not Be Expelled

If a child's parent(s):

- Made a complaint to the Office of Licensing regarding a center's alleged violations of the licensing requirements.
- Reported abuse or neglect occurring at the center.
- Questioned the center regarding policies and procedures.
- Without giving the parent sufficient time to make other child care arrangements.

Proactive Actions to Be Taken in Order To Prevent Suspension or Expulsion

- Staff will try to redirect child from negative behavior.
- Staff will reassess classroom environment, appropriate of activities, supervision.
- Staff will always use positive methods and language while disciplining children.
- Staff will praise appropriate behaviors.
- Staff will consistently apply consequences for rules.
- Child will be given verbal warnings.
- Child will be given time to regain control.
- Child's disruptive behavior will be documented and maintained in confidentiality.
- Parent/guardian will be notified verbally.
- Parent/guardian will be given written copies of the disruptive behaviors that might lead to expulsion.
- The director, classroom staff and parent/guardian will have a conference(s) to discuss how to promote positive behaviors.

36

• Recommendation of evaluation by professional consultation on premises

OOL/EXPULSION POLICY/APRIL 2017

Department of Children and Families: Office of Licensing

INFORMATION TO PARENTS

Under provisions of the Manual of Requirements for Child Care Centers (N.J.A.C. 10:122), every licensed child care center in New Jersey must provide to parents of enrolled children written information on parent visitation rights, State licensing requirements, child abuse/neglect reporting requirements and other child care matters. The center must comply with this requirement by reproducing and distributing to parents this written statement, prepared by the Office of Licensing, Child Care & Youth Residential Licensing, in the Department of Children and Families. In keeping with this requirement, the center must secure every parent's signature attesting to his/her receipt of the information.

* * * * *

Our center is required by the State Child Care Center Licensing law to be licensed by the Office of Licensing (OOL), Child Care & Youth Residential Licensing, in the Department of Children and Families (DCF). A copy of our current license must be posted in a prominent location at our center. Look for it when you're in the center.

To be licensed, our center must comply with the <u>Manual of Requirements for Child Care</u> <u>Centers</u> (the official licensing regulations). The regulations cover such areas as: physical environment/life- safety; staff qualifications, supervision, and staff/child ratios; program activities and equipment; health, food and nutrition; rest and sleep requirements; parent/community participation; administrative and record keeping requirements; and others.

Our center must have on the premises a copy of the <u>Manual of Requirements for Child Care Centers</u> and make it available to interested parents for review. If you would like to review our copy, just ask any staff member. Parents may view a copy of the Manual of Requirements on the DCF website at <u>www.state.nj.us/dcf/providers/licensing/laws/index.html</u> or obtain a copy by sending a check or money order for \$5 made payable to the "Treasurer, State of New Jersey", and mailing it to: NJDCF, Office of Licensing, Publication Fees, PO Box 657, Trenton, NJ 08646-0657.

We encourage parents to discuss with us any questions or concerns about the policies and program of the center or the meaning, application or alleged violations of the <u>Manual of Requirements for Child Care Centers</u>. We will be happy to arrange a convenient opportunity for you to review and discuss these matters with us. If you suspect our center may be in violation of licensing requirements, you are entitled to report them to the Office of Licensing toll free at 1 (877) 667-9845. Of course, we would appreciate your bringing these concerns to our attention too.

Our center must have a policy concerning the release of children to parents or people authorized by parents to be responsible for the child. Please discuss with us your plans for your child's departure from the center.

Our center must have a policy about administering medicine and health care procedures and the management of communicable diseases. Please talk to us about these policies so we can work together to keep our children healthy.

Our center must have a policy concerning the expulsion of children from enrollment at the center. Please review this policy so we can work together to keep your child in our center.

Parents are entitled to review the center's copy of the OOL's Inspection/Violation Reports on the center, which are issued after every State licensing inspection of our center. If there is a licensing complaint investigation, you are also entitled to review the OOL's Complaint Investigation Summary Report, as well as any letters of enforcement or other actions taken against the center during the current licensing period. Let us know if you wish to review them and we will make them available for your review.

Our center must cooperate with all DCF inspections/investigations. DCF staff may interview both staff members and children.

Our center must post its written statement of philosophy on child discipline in a prominent location and make a copy of it available to parents upon request. We encourage you to review it and to discuss with us any questions you may have about it.

Our center must post a listing or diagram of those rooms and areas approved by the OOL for the children's use. Please talk to us if you have any questions about the center's space.

Our center must offer parents of enrolled children ample opportunity to assist the center in complying with licensing requirements; and to participate in and observe the activities of the center. Parents wishing to participate in the activities or operations of the center should discuss their interest with the center director, who can advise them of what opportunities are available.

Parents of enrolled children may visit our center at any time without having to secure prior approval from the director or any staff member. Please feel free to do so when you can. We welcome visits from our parents.

Our center must inform parents in advance of every field trip, outing, or special event away from the center, and must obtain prior written consent from parents before taking a child on each such trip.

Our center is required to provide reasonable accommodations for children and/or parents with disabilities and to comply with the New Jersey Law Against Discrimination (LAD), P.L. 1945, c. 169 (N.J.S.A. 10:5-1 et seq.), and the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), P.L. 101-336 (42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq.). Anyone who believes the center is not in compliance with these laws may contact the Division on Civil Rights in the New Jersey Department of Law and Public Safety for information about filing an LAD claim at (609) 292-4605 (TTY users may dial 711 to reach the New Jersey Relay Operator and ask for (609) 292-7701), or may contact the United States Department of Justice for information about filing an ADA claim at (800) 514-0301 (voice) or (800) 514-0383 (TTY).

Our center is required, at least annually, to review the Consumer Product Safety Commission (CPSC), unsafe children's products list, ensure that items on the list are not at the center, and make the list accessible to staff and parents and/or provide parents with the CPSC website at <a href="https://www.cpsc.gov/cpsc

Anyone who has reasonable cause to believe that an enrolled child has been or is being subjected to any form of hitting, corporal punishment, abusive language, ridicule, harsh, humiliating or frightening treatment, or any other kind of child abuse, neglect, or exploitation by any adult, whether working at the center or not, is required by State law to report the concern immediately to the State Central Registry Hotline, toll free at (877) NJ ABUSE/ (877) 652-2873. Such reports may be made anonymously. Parents may secure information about child abuse and neglect by contacting: DCF, Office of Communications and Legislation at (609) 292-0422 or go to www.state.nj.us/dcf/ and select Publications.

OOL/INFORMATION TO PARENTS/APRIL2017

Communicable Diseases Information

Quick Reference



Reporting Requirements for Communicable **Diseases and Work-Related Conditions**



(see New Jersey Administrative Code Title 8, Chapters 57 and 58)

Communicable Disease Service **Disease Reporting Requirements and** Regulations can be viewed at:

http://nj.gov/health/cd/reporting.shtml



Health care providers required to report: physicians, advanced practice nurses, physician assistants, and certified nurse midwives.

Administrators required to report: persons having control or supervision over a health care facility, correctional facility, school, youth camp, child care center, preschool, or institution of higher education.

Laboratory directors: For specific reporting guidelines, see NJAC 8:57-1.7.

CONFIRMED or SUSPECT CASES TELEPHONE IMMEDIATELY to the LOCAL HEALTH DEPARTMENT

- Anthrax
- Botulism
- Brucellosis
- Diphtheria
- · Foodborne intoxications (including, but not limited to, ciguatera, paralytic shellfish poisoning, scombroid, or mushroom
- · Haemophilus influenzae, invasive disease
- · Hantavirus pulmonary syndrome
- · Hepatitis A, acute
- · Influenza, novel strains only
- Measles
- Meningococcal invasive disease
- · Outbreak or suspected outbreak of illness, including, but not limited to, foodborne, waterborne or nosocomial disease or a suspected act of bioterrorism
- Pertussis
- Plague
- Poliomyelitis
- · Rabies (human illness)
- Rubella
- SARS-CoV disease (SARS)
- Smallpox
- Tularemia
- · Viral hemorrhagic fevers (including, but not limited to, Ebola, Lassa, and Marburg viruses)

Cases should be reported to the local health department where the patient resides. If patient residence is unknown, report to your own local health department, Contact information is available at: localhealth.nj.gov.

If the individual does not live in New Jersey, report the case to the New Jersey Department of Health at: 609-826-5964.

In cases of immediately reportable diseases and other emergencies - if the local health department cannot be reached - the New Jersey Department of Health maintains an emergency after hours phone number: 609-392-2020

July 2013

www.nj.gov/health/cd

REPORTABLE WITHIN 24 HOURS OF DIAGNOSIS to the LOCAL HEALTH DEPARTMENT

- Amoebiasis
- Animal hites treated for rabies
- Arboviral diseases
- Babesiosis
- Campylobacteriosis
- Cholera
- Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease
- Cryptosporidiosis
- Cyclosporiasis Diarrheal disease (child in a day care center
- or a foodhandler)
- Ehrlichiosis · Escherichia coli, shiga toxin producing strains
- (STEC) only
- Giardiasis
- · Hansen's disease
- · Hemolytic uremic syndrome, post-diarrheal
- · Hepatitis B, including newly diagnosed acute, perinatal and chronic infections, and pregnant women who have tested positive for Hep B surface antigen
- · Influenza-associated pediatric mortality
- Legionellosis
- Listeriosis
- Lyme disease
- Malaria
- Mumps
- Psittacosis
- Q fever
- Rocky Mountain spotted fever
- Rubella, congenital syndrome
- Salmonellosis
- Shigellosis
- · Staphylococcus aureus, with intermediatelevel resistance (VISA) or high-levelresistance (VRSA) to vancomycin only
- Streptococcal disease, invasive group A
- Streptococcal disease, invasive group B, neonatal
- · Streptococcal toxic shock syndrome
- Streptococcus pneumoniae, invasive disease
- Tetanus
- · Toxic shock syndrome (other than Streptococcal) Trichinellosis
- Typhoid fever
- Varicella (chickenpox)
- Vibriosis
- Viral encephalitis
- Yellow fever
- Yersiniosis

REPORTABLE DIRECTLY to the NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH

Hepatitis C, acute and chronic, newly diagnosed cases only

Written report within 24 hours

HIV/AIDS

609-984-5940 or 973-648-7500 Written report within 24 hours

- HIV infection
- Child exposed to HIV perinatally

Sexually Transmitted Diseases 609-826-4869 Report within 24 hours

- Chancroid
- · Chlamydia, including neonatal conjunctivitis
- Gonorrhea
- · Granuloma inquinale
- Lymphogranuloma venereum
- · Syphilis, all stages and congenital

Tuberculosis (confirmed or suspect cases) 609-826-4878 Written report within 24 hours

Occupational and Environmental Diseases, Injuries, and Poisonings 609-826-4920

Report within 30 days after diagnosis or treatment

- Work-related asthma (possible. probable, and confirmed)
- Silicosis
- Asbestosis
- · Pneumoconiosis, other and unspecified
- · Extrinsic allergic alveolitis
- · Lead, mercury, cadmium, arsenic toxicity in adults
- Work-related injury in children (< age 18)
- Work-related fatal injury Occupational dermatitis
- Poisoning caused by known or suspected occupational exposure
- Pesticide toxicity
- Work-related carpal tunnel syndrome
- · Other occupational disease

USDA Meal Guidelines



United States Department of Agriculture

UPDATED CHILD AND ADULT CARE FOOD PROGRAM MEAL PATTERNS:

CHILD AND ADULT MEALS



USDA recently revised the CACFP meal patterns to ensure children and adults have access to healthy, balanced meals throughout the day. Under the updated child and adult meal patterns, meals served will include a greater variety of vegetables and fruit, more whole grains, and less added sugar and saturated fat. The changes made to the meal patterns are based on the Dietary Guidelines for Americans, scientific recommendations from the National Academy of Medicine, and stakeholder input. CACFP centers and day care homes must comply with the updated meal patterns by October 1, 2017.

Updated Child and Adult Meal Patterns



Greater Variety of Vegetables and Fruits

- The combined fruit and vegetable component is now a separate vegetable component and a separate fruit component; and
- · Juice is limited to once per day.



More Whole Grains

- · At least one serving of grains per day must be whole grain-rich;
- · Grain-based desserts no longer count towards the grain component; and
- Ounce equivalents (oz eq) are used to determine the amount of creditable grains (starting October 1, 2019).



More Protein Options

- Meat and meat alternates may be served in place of the entire grains component at breakfast a maximum
 of three times per week; and
- Tofu counts as a meat alternate.



Age Appropriate Meals

A new age group to address the needs of older children 13 through 18 years old.



Less Added Sugar

- Yogurt must contain no more than 23 grams of sugar per 6 ounces; and
- · Breakfast cereals must contain no more than 6 grams of sugar per dry ounce.

CHILD & ADULT CARE FOOD

USDA Meal Guidelines (cont.)





Making Every Sip Count

- Unflavored whole milk must be served to 1 year olds; unflavored low-fat or fat-free milk must be served to children 2 through 5 years old; and unflavored low-fat, unflavored fat-free, or flavored fat-free milk must be served to children 6 years old and older and adults;
- · Non-dairy milk substitutes that are nutritionally equivalent to milk may be served in place of milk to children or adults with medical or special dietary needs; and
- · Yogurt may be served in place of milk once per day for adults only.



Additional Improvements

- · Extends offer versus serve to at-risk afterschool programs; and
- · Frying is not allowed as a way of preparing foods on-site.

Breakfast Meal Patterns

	Ages 1-2		Ages 3-5		Ages 6-12 & 13-18		Adults	
	Previous	Updated	Previous	Updated	Previous	Updated	Previous	Updated
Milk	1/2 cup	½ cup	¾ cup	¾ cup	1 cup	1 cup	1 cup	1 cup
Vegetables, fruit, or both	¼ cup	¼ cup	½ cup	½ cup	½ cup	½ cup	½ cup	½ cup
Grains	½ serving	1/2 oz eq*	1/2 serving	1/2 oz eq*	1 serving	1 oz eq*	2 servings	2 oz eq*

*Meat and meat alternates may be used to substitute the entire grains component a maximum of three times per week. Oz eq = ounce equivalents

Lunch and Supper Meal Patterns

	Ages 1-2		Ages 3-5		Ages 6-12 & 13-18		Adults	
	Previous	Updated	Previous	Updated	Previous	Updated	Previous	Updated
Milk	½ cup	½ cup	¾ cup	¾ cup	1 cup	1 cup	1 cup	1 cup*
Meat and meat alternates	1 oz	1 oz	1 ½ oz	1 ½ oz	2 oz	2 oz	2 oz	2 oz
Vegetables	.,	⅓ cup		¼ cup	2/	½ cup	1 000	½ cup
Fruits	¼ cup	⅓ cup	½ cup	1/4 cup	¾ cup	1/4 cup	1 cup	½ cup
Grains	½ serving	½ oz eq	1/2 serving	½ oz eq	1 serving	1 oz eq	2 servings	2 oz eq

^{*}A serving of milk is not required at supper meals for adults Oz eq = ounce equivalents

Snack Meal Patterns

	Ages 1-2		Ages 3-5		Ages 6-12 & 13-18		Adults	
	Previous	Updated	Previous	Updated	Previous	Updated	Previous	Updated
Milk	1/2 cup	½ cup	½ cup	½ cup	1 cup	1 cup	1 cup	1 cup
Meat and meat alternates	½ oz	½ oz	½ oz	½ oz	1 oz	1 oz	1 oz	1 oz
Vegetables		½ cup	½ cup ½ cup	½ cup	3/4 cup	¾ cup	½ cup	½ cup
Fruit	½ cup	½ cup ½ cup		½ cup		¾ cup		½ cup
Grains	½ serving	⅓ oz eq	1/2 serving	⅓ oz eq	1 serving	1oz eq	1 servings	1 oz eq

Select 2 of the 5 components for snack. Oz eq = ounce equivalents

Note: All serving sizes are minimum quantities of the food components that are required to be served.

USDA is an equal opportunity employer and provide



Sudden Infant Death Syndrome



Silent killer: Sleep suffocation is the leading cause of reported child deaths in Illinois

Your baby should not sleep in a bed, couch or chair with anyone, even other children. If you breastfeed in bed, soothe your baby back to sleep while standing and return her to crib when she is asleep.

Always place your baby on his back to sleep.

Your baby should sleep in a crib with a firm mattress covered by a tightly fitted sheet. Babies die every week in Illinois while sleeping on adult beds, couches, pillows, blankets and other soft surfaces as well as in car seats, bouncy seats and infant swings.

Additional sleep safety tips:

- 1. Keep stuffed animals, toys, pillows, blankets, quilts, crib bumpers and sleep positioners out of your baby's crib.
- 2. Don't smoke before or after your baby is born, and don't let others smoke around your baby.
- 3. Try using a pacifier when placing your baby to sleep, but don't force it. If you are breastfeeding your baby, wait until he is one month old or is used to breastfeeding before using a pacifier.
- 4. Don't let your baby overheat during sleep. Dress her lightly for sleeping, and keep the room at a temperature that is comfortable for an adult.
- 5. Your baby needs plenty of supervised "tummy time" when he is awake to help build strong neck and shoulder muscles. Don't let your baby spend too much time in car seats, carriers and bouncers.
- 6. If you are having difficulty getting your baby to sleep, contact your pediatrician or the Fussy Baby Network at 1-888-431-BABY (2229).
- 7. Visit the Consumer Product Safety Commission's Crib Safety Information Center at www.cpsc.gov for sleep safety tips and a list of recalled products.

For more information, visit www.DCFS.illinois.gov



Printed by Authority of the State of Illinois • DCFS #54 – August 2013 – 6000 Copies

Shaken Baby Syndrome

What is

Shaken Baby Syndrome (SBS)?

When anyone shakes a baby or young child, Some children die from this type of abuse. the brain and body are seriously injured.

Why does SBS happen?

frustration. Adults may get so upset that they training. Outside stresses like money, work, difficulty feeding a baby, or problems toilet may become frustrated by nonstop crying, care are not trying to hurt the child. They or personal relationships can add to this Most people who shake a baby in their lose control and shake the baby.

They may be too hot or cold, want attention, normal! Crying is how babies communicate. It is important to understand that crying is

do for yourself and the baby that need a diaper crying, check our baby is things first. all of these change. If be tired or nungry, or

get upset, there are things you can - Caring for a baby is stressful! It is normal to feel frustrated and overwhelmed sometimes. If you

-- Anyone may shake a child, -even a mother, father, or babysitter. Syndrome with anybody who cares Make sure to share this important information on Shaken Baby for your child.

when a child is shaken? What happens

causing his or her brain to hit the skull. This causes swelling and bleeding of the brain -When a baby or young child is violently shaken, the head rolls back and forth, even the eyes can bleed.

t only takes a few seconds of shaking to cause permanent damage to a child.

Shaking can result in:

- Permanent brain damage
 - Blindness
- Seizures
- Cerebral palsy Paralysis
- Developmental disability • Death (1 in 4 die)

How can I prevent

these injuries?

 Never, ever shake a child. Make sure that everyone who cares for your child knows not to shake him Learn what to do

can help you cope.

when your baby cries.

of Shaken Baby Syndrome Signs and Symptoms

- Extreme irritabilit
- Baby is very stiff or like a rag doll
- Lethargy
 - Seizures
- Not eating or poor appetite Dilated pupils
 - Feeding problems
- Difficulty breathing
 - Vomiting
- Blood spots in eyes

medical attention right away could save your call 911 or bring your baby to the nearest If you think your child has been shaken, emergency room immediately. Getting

to make my baby stop crying? All babies cry a lot during the first few What can I do

months of life. Crying does not mean that your baby is being bad or that your baby is angry with you. Sometimes, babies just need to cry.



To calm a crying baby:

- Check to see if your baby is hungry, is too hot or too cold, or needs a diaper change.
- Check to see if your baby is sick or
- Feed your baby slowly and burp often. has a fever.
- Give your baby a pacifier or let your Rock your baby. baby breastfeed.
- · Play soft music, sing or hum to your baby.
- Take your baby for a ride in a car or stroller.

If nothing seems to work:

- . Put the baby in his or her crib Do something to relax: take with the sides up, close the door, and walk away.
 - a bath or shower, watch Sit down, close your TV, listen to music. eyes, and take deep
- Call a friend or family member to talk. breaths.
- give you a break. Have someone come over to

it is better to let babies cry than to risk No baby has ever died from crying – hurting them!

To Report Child Abuse

in New York State Call: or Maltreatment

never

ever

Child Abuse and Maltreatment New York State

Reporting Center

(800) 342-3720

Child Abuse Support and Resource Centers:

(800) 244 -5373 Trained specialist available **New York Parent Helpline** Prevent Child Abuse

g a.m. to 10 p.m., voicemail available after hours)

(801) 447-9360 Shaken Baby Syndrome National Center on

know that it is okay to ask for help, and that Share the information in this brochure with anyone who cares for your baby. Let them they should call you if they get frustrated.



Follow us on: health.ny.gov facebook.com/nysdoh twitter.com/HealthNYGov youtube.com/nysdoh

Shaken Baby

shake





4/15

3192